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Significant changes took place in the urban space of Krakow in the 19t
and the first half of the 20t century, partly related to the liquidation of
the old city fortifications (1806-1815). An oval-shaped park (Planty) was
established in place of the demolished medieval fortifications and infilled
moats in 1815-1834. Then, a circular street was marked out around the
new park. In the second half of the 19t century, it acquired a monumental
character through the construction of many public buildings.

In 1912, construction began on the second city ring, now located on the
site of the demolished Austrian fortifications from the 1860s. The new
circular street, resembling a metropolitan boulevard, was to serve residential
and representative functions. This concept was partly related to the Viennese
Ring, and in terms of communication to the Viennese Giirtel.

The urban transitions of Krakow in the 19 century and
the first half of the 20™ century were largely determined
by military and geostrategic matters. The two most sig-
nificant urban projects of this era, the Inner Ring (Planty
Park) and the Outer Ring (Trzech Wieszczoéw Avenues),!
which to a large extent still define how the city functions
in the present, were created on the sites of former de-
fensive structures that had been dismantled. The aim of
this text is to indicate the significance of the demolition
of the old city fortifications with respect to the urban
transformations of the city. In Krakow, this demolition
occurred in two phases, first at the beginning of the 19®
century, then at the beginning of the 20™ century, each of
which influenced fundamental spatial transformations.
These projects also contributed to the formation of new
districts with different functions.

A significant impact on the form and development
of the city came from the continual shifts of which state
ruled Krakéw during the 19* and the early 20™ centuries.
Following the third partition of Poland (1795), Krakow
was incorporated into Austria. During the war with Na-
poleon, it was captured in 1809 by the Polish army of the
Duchy of Warsaw, and by the provisions of the Peace of
Schonbrunn incorporated into the Duchy. In 1813, it came
under Russian occupation and, following the provisions
of the Congress of Vienna (1815), was made the capital
of a semi-sovereign statelet, the Free City of Krakéw. In
1831, it was occupied by the Russian army, and in the years
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1836-1841 by the Austrian army. As a result of a failed
national uprising (1846), the city was again occupied and
then incorporated into Austria. It remained within the
borders of the Habsburg monarchy until 1918, after which
it was returned to a reborn, independent Poland. In the
years 1939-1945, the city was occupied by the Third Reich.
Consecutive forced incorporation into different states
implied repeated modifications to prevalent political and
legal regulations and the city’s geostrategic function, and
equally affected the dynamics of its economic and demo-
graphic growth. Reflections of this historical tumult were
no less evident in urban development processes. As far as
European conditions are concerned, Krakéw was a medi-
um-sized city. In 1796, it had 22,000 inhabitants, in 1808 it
had 27,000, in 1815 it had 23,000, in 1846 43,000, in 1900
- 95,000, in 1914 - 181,000, and in 1939 up to 260,0002.
After occupying Krakow, the Austrian military authori-
ties began plans to convert the city into a modern fortress.
The author of three consecutive designs from the years
1796-1798 was Colonel Johann Gabriel Chasteller, who
considered making partial use of the city’s medieval walls
for this purpose.’ Ultimately, the Court War Council de-
cided that, for financial and political reasons (an ongoing
war with France and good neighbourly ties with Russia and
Prussia), these plans did not make much sense. Although
Krakéw was labeled as a fortified location (“feste Platz”),
this designation was not followed by specific projects.
In this situation, the municipal authorities called for the
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demolition of the city’s pre-existing fortifications. The
fact that the city’s limits were extended due to the formal
incorporated of two satellite towns (Kleparz and Kazimi-
erz), alongside several suburbs, was another argument
in this case. Such a decision had already been taken in
1792 by the Polish Sejm, but it was only in 1800 that the
Austrian authorities began to implement it. In this situ-
ation, maintaining archaic fortifications that no longer
fulfilled a defensive or policing role became unjustified.*

Emperor Franz I issued a decision to dismantle
Krakow’s medieval fortifications in 1804, but due to the
outbreak of another war with France (1805) it was post-
poned until 1806, the year when the demolition works
started. The city hall of Krakoéw, following in part the
solutions adopted in Lviv and earlier in Milan, proposed
to establish on the site of the demolished walls and moats
a city park around the entire Old Town. On the inside,
it was to abut existing buildings (tenements, monaster-
ies, churches); on the outside, it would be surrounded by
a street that would separate it from the less urbanised sub-
urbs. The implementation of this proposal was delayed by
another war with Napoleon’s France and its allies in 1809.

After the incorporation of Krakow into the Duchy of
Warsaw, the city hall continued to carry out demolition
and clearing works in line with earlier plans. Due to the
financial drain of the upkeep of the Polish army, the work
was slow. By 1812, the main part of the fortifications had
been dismantled and in December 1812, the president of
Krakow, Stanistaw Zarzecki, presented during a meeting
of the Krakow Municipal Council the concept of marking
out a circular street around the Old Town. In the spring
of 1815 - already under Russian occupation - the estab-
lishment began of a city park called Planty, prepared by
the builder Jan Drachny. A competing project prepared
by entrepreneur Jan Krzyzanowski was rejected.’

After another delay due to the political changes resulting
from the Congress of Vienna, the creation of the park was
resumed with renewed vigour in 1817. A new project for
the establishment of Planty was developed by the architect
and senator of the Free City of Krakow, Feliks Radwariski.
After his death in 1826, further work was directed by sen-
ator Florian Straszewski. More systematic work on this
investment was ensured through the actions of the Presi-
dent of the Governing Senate (de facto Prime Minister) of
the Free City of Krakow, Count Stanislaw Wodzicki, who,
as an enthusiastic amateur botanist, supported this project
with all his power.®

The initial idea, implemented in the first half of the 19™
century, was to create a public park and a circular street
planted with trees, of secondary communication impor-
tance, which was marked out in the years 1817-1825 on
the site of the previously demolished fortifications’. By
1836, most of the work had been completed, with the road
circumnavigating the Planty and the Old Town as a pedes-
trian walkway. However, with the increase in construction
activity in the former suburbs from the 1870s onwards, the
area began to change its form of use. On the outer side of
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Planty, the surrounding fabric of small chateaus, manors
and detached burghers’ houses became gradually replaced
by public buildings and tenements.

In the years 1847-1870, Planty was transformed into
a garden with the character of an English park. After
1870, the layout was recomposed and given “educational
and patriotic” functions (including the erection of monu-
ments). These last actions were initiated by the presidents
of Krakow, Jézef Dietl and Mikotaj Zyblikiewiczs.

An increasing monumentality within the development
around Planty and the accompanying perimeter street
(“Ring”) occurred in the last quarter of the 19 century.
Formal buildings were erected on the inner side: the
Collegium Novum (main building) of the Jagiellonian
University (1883-1887), the Municipal Theatre (1891-
1893), the Palace of Arts (1898-1901), and the Higher
Theological Seminary (1899-1902). Most projects were
built on the inner side: the Fire Department building
(1877-1879), the Academy of Fine Arts (1879-1880), the
Florianka Insurance Company building (1885), the Main
Post Office (1887-1889), the County Governor’s Office
(1898-1900), the Chamber of Commerce and Industry
building (1904-1906), the Academy of Commerce (1904-
1906). Several monumental office buildings erected later,
in the interwar period: the Bank of Poland (1921-1925),
the nine-storey building of the Feniks Insurance Soci-
ety (1931-1933) and the Agricultural Bank (1938-1951)°.
In addition, a horse-drawn tramway was launched on
a small section of the “Ring” in 1882 and an electric
tramway in 1901. By 1939, about half of the “Ring” was
equipped with tram lines.

The buildings of the Krakéw “Ring” corresponded
to the stylistic changes in European architecture, and to
some extent were a free imitation of the buildings of Vi-
enna’s “Ringstrasse”. Up to around 1900, the monumental
buildings were erected in historical revival styles: Gothic
Revival and Renaissance Revival, with references to local
patterns and earlier centuries'. In the years 1898-1914,
certain new buildings were given eclectic and historicist
or Art Nouveau facades; after 1918, the latest buildings
began to represent various currents of Modernism.

With the monumentalisation of the “Ring’s” develop-
ment at the end of the 19™ century, the street’s use also
changed, acquiring significance as a through transit
route, an inter-district communication, yet also a sym-
bolic location. After the opening of the railway station
(1847), a small section of the “Ring” (up to the medieval
Florian’s Gate) began to serve as a formal processional
street: the route for the reigning monarchs (Franz Joseph
I, Charles I) to enter the city centre, or the bodies of Polish
national heroes (Adam Mickiewicz, 1890) to be transport-
ed for burial. Starting with the celebrations of the quincen-
tenary anniversary of the Battle of Grunwald (1910), part
of the “Ring” increasingly became a venue for political
demonstrations and, in the interwar period, for Polish
military parades and state ceremonies. Another element
that reinforced the symbolic impact of this space for newly
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independent Poland was the construction of the Tomb of
the Unknown Soldier right beside the “Ring” in 1925".

The architectural and symbolic transformation of
Krakow’s Planty and the circular street around it (the
“Ring”) was one of the most interesting examples of use
changes in urban space in the 19* century. Interesting-
ly, the role of urban planners in this process was rather
minor and secondary to the original idea of establishing
a formal city park around the Old Town.

The reincorporation of Krakow into Austria in 1846
had far-reaching consequences for the city. Here, the key
decision was the ruling by the State Fortification Com-
mission to designate it as one of the monarchy’s main
strategic points, capable of blocking Russian forces on
the Warsaw-Vienna operation route and ensuring that Aus-
trian troops could safely mobilise and cross to the north
bank of the River Vistula. In this situation, it was decided
in 1850 to build a fortified military camp in Krakéw, and
in 1856, to begin work on a regular fortress®.

In the years 1850-1856, the Wawel royal castle was
converted into a citadel and several forts were erected
at a distance of around 2-3 km from the market square
(Marktplatz), blocking the main roads into the city. Af-
ter the Crimean War, work began on the construction of
a continuous city rampart (“noyau”) of elliptical outline,
with bastions and forts at a distance of 1 to 2 km from
the market square. Completed completed during the Aus-
tro-Prussian War in 1866, it was not long after, following
the experience of the Franco-German War (1870-1871)
that such fortification systems were confirmed as com-
pletely obsolete. As a result, from 1872 onwards, individ-
ual forts were erected much further away from the city,
and from 1879 (after the Eastern Crisis) the construction
of a completely new ring of forts 6-8 km from the city
centre began®.

As such, the outdated bastion fortification soon be-
came a burden for the army and the inhabitants of the
villages near Krakow. According to the law of the time,
for the liquidation and demolition of fortifications, all
costs were covered by the military treasury. The Aus-
tro-Hungarian army, suffering from a chronic lack of
money, was not interested in such a solution and, in con-
sequence, continued to maintain its completely outdated
fortifications. However, the years 1886-1887 saw a state
railway line built on the defensive embankment (“circum-
vallation railway”), which enhanced the effectiveness of
the city’s southward connection.

It was not until 1904, after the energetic politician Ju-
liusz Leo had assumed the presidency of Krakéw, that
negotiations began on the future of the archaic fortifica-
tions. In the end, the city decided to purchase the western
and north-western parts of the fortifications closest to the
centre. The north-eastern and eastern parts of the forti-
fications, less attractive in terms of potential real estate
development (among other things, containing a freight
depot, a municipal cemetery and the fortress’s logistics
facilities) remained in the hands of the army.
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President Juliusz Leo aimed to create a modern me-
tropolis, to be known as “Greater Krakéw”. This result
was to be achieved by buying up some of the Austrian
military areas, incorporating 14 neighbouring munici-
palities (some of them already urbanised and industrial-
ised) and the satellite city of Podgorze into Krakow, and
finally launching an urban planning competition in 1909,
an innovation in the Polish context, to design “Greater
Krakéw” itself. Such plans were also being prepared at
the time for other cities such as Berlin, Copenhagen,
Canberra and Ghent.™

One of the ideas of the new masterplan was to connect
the old development with the new, as well as to recon-
cile the existing street grid, including the circular traffic
(“Ring”) with the newly designed traffic solutions.' Lev-
elling works (filling the ground) and demolition works
(bastions, curtains) were carried out under the supervision
of Andrzej Kteczek. The project of the Commission for
Fortress Lands aimed to mark out a perimeter street based
on the bypass around Planty. The announced competition
for the regulation plan for Greater Krakéw was decided
on 8 April 1910, with a winning project that assumed
the division of the city into functional zones, referring
to Ebenezer Howard’s idea of a garden city. One of its
elements was to mark out an 80-meter-wide boulevard
with the character of a perimeter street from the west and
north of the city. Though the plan was not implemented,
several of the proposed solutions were used, which also
affected the planned perimeter avenue. The concepts
of the peripheral boulevard - the second ring - and the
overall design of the new districts were partly related to
the idea contained in Camillo Sitte’s work “Der Stadt-
bau”, but their implementation deviated quite far from
its postulates.'°

In 1910, the perimeter railway was removed, while
immediately after, in 1910-1911, the City Regulation Of-
fice developed designs for a perimeter street, which were
approved by the City Council in 1911, establishing its
width at 52 meters."”

The result of both the competition and the enacted
property solutions was to free up land in the western and
north-western parts of the city for development. After
the demolition of the former Austrian defences (ram-
parts and bastions) and the railway line located there,
the replacement consisted of a formal avenue with two
carriageways separated by a wide green strip (Trzech
Wieszczéw Avenues), 3 km long (“outer Ring”, “second
ring road”), according to a proposal by urban planner Jan
Rakowicz. It surrounded the 19™-century urban districts
to the west and north.

The implementation of elements of urban projects
from 1910 took place in the interwar period. Andrzej
Kleczek, head of the City Regulation Office, played an
important role in the implementation of the peripheral
avenue. For financial reasons, he limited the width of the
new boulevard to about 50 meters, somehow ignoring the
increase in car traffic and the potential transit role of the
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Krakdw, city plan 1836:
circular park (Planty)
and circular street (Ring)
Source: private archive of Michat Baczkowski

Krakow, 1910, the winning urban design
for Greater Krakéw with the Outer Ring
Source: Architekt. 1910. Program
i warunki konkursu na plan regulacji
Wielkiego Krakowa.
Architekt, 11(6-8), pp. 88, 89



Krakow, city plan 1916:
inner circular street with a park (Planty, 1. Ring) and an
unfinished outer circular street from the west (2. Ring)
Source: private archive of Michat Baczkowski

Krakow, 1910, urban design of Greater
Krakéw (2nd place) with the Outer Ring
Source: Architekt. 1910. Program
i warunki konkursu na plan regulacji
Wielkiego Krakowa.
Architekt, 11(6-8), pp. 88, 89



Krakéw, 1938, outer circular street
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Krakow, 1932, inner circular street, Krakow, 1938, outer circular street,
military parade Jagiellonian Library
Source: National Digital Archives, Source: National Digital Archives,
Warsaw Warsaw
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new development. It was not until the investment plan
of Krakow from 1937/1938 and the regulatory plan from
1938 that a transit function was foreseen for the avenue
(north-south axis).'

The ‘Outer Ring’ was the only large investment directly
related to the urban plans of Greater Krakow - indeed, the
only investment with a metropolitan character in Krakow
during the Second Polish Republic. The architectural form
was supervised by the Municipal Construction Office and
the Artistic Council, which emphasized the prestigious
nature of the investment."

Even during the initial planning, two monumental pub-
lic buildings were located along the planned avenue (on
the inner side): the Industrial School (1907-1912) and the
Collegium Agronomicum of the Jagiellonian University
(1905-1912, now the University of Agriculture) in a style
reminiscent of historical revival. The 1910 urban plan for
“Greater Krakéw” envisaged dividing the development
along Trzech Wieszczéw Avenues into three zones: the
southern and northern parts were to be dominated by lux-
urious residential buildings, while the central part was to
have formal and recreational uses. The implementation of
these plans was to shift to the interwar period. The new res-
idential development was dominated by four- to five-storey
apartment blocks in a Modernist style; their standard was
high, attracting as residents the wealthier inhabitants of
Krakow (bourgeoisie, officials), both Christian and Jewish.
In the formal central part, only the building of the Silesian
Theological Seminary (1926-1928) was erected on the in-
ner side, while on the outer side, the following buildings
were constructed: the Mining Academy (1924-1935), the
Jagiellonian Library (1929-1939) and the National Muse-
um (1933-1939, extended in 1958-1989). In addition, the
Silesian House (1931-1937), the Jozef Pilsudski House for
Physical Education (1931-1934) and the Municipal Touring
House (1930-1931) were located in the immediate vicinity
of the avenues. All of these buildings were constructed in
the Modernist style. Only the oldest building of the Mining
Academy received a facade with elements of Classicism.?

The idea of public investments at the outer ring in
Krakéw was to show the ambition, strength and moder-
nity of the Polish people in the reborn Polish state. Their
manifestation in architecture was to be modernism: not
only a local specificity, but also extending to many other
European countries (Czechoslovakia, Lithuania, Latvia,
Estonia, Finland) that had gained independence in 1918.%

These buildings, together with the small Krakowski
Park, established back in 1887 in the foreground of the
former Austrian fortifications, the nearby Jordana Park
from 1889, and a group of education-related buildings
(the Queen Wanda Gymnasium, two dormitories) from
the years 1924-1937, created a new formal and recreational
zone of the city, linked to an elegant circular avenue. The
green strip “square” on the Outer Ring was built only in
the years 1933-1939.2 According to Jacek Purchla, this
proposal was “an echo of the 19*-century concept of the
Viennese Ring”.?
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This argument is somewhat debatable. In terms of urban
planning, Krakow’s “Outer Ring” was more reminiscent of
Vienna’s Giirtel. Like its Viennese counterpart, the Krakow
project was incomplete: it only covered the western and
northern parts of the city, while the Giirtel surrounded Vien-
na to the south, west and partly north. As in Vienna, the most
prestigious buildings (with the exception of Krakow’s Na-
tional Museum) were located along the city’s inner ring road,
on the site of the demolished medieval fortifications. On
the other hand, there is no doubt that, in terms of use, the
central part of Krakéw’s new “Outer Ring” referred to the
idea of creating a formal urban block, one such example
being the Kaiserforum near the Viennese Ring.

Krakow’s “Outer Ring” project remained incomplete.
The Austrian fortress areas in the north-east and east
of the city were not demobilised until 1917 and were de-
molished in the interwar period. Due to a lack of funding
and lower attractiveness in terms of development, the
city hall decided not to continue the monumental urban
layout in the city’s western part. In 1930, only the two-
lane Belina-Prazmowskiego Avenue was laid out on the
site of part of the former ramparts to the north-east. Its
southern extension (Powstania Warszawskiego Avenue)
was not built until 1955-1957.* In fact, the problem of com-
pleting the monumental “Outer Ring” on this side of the
city was addressed by German planners during the Third
Reich’s occupation of Krakow. Hubert Ritter’s designs of
1941 envisaged the establishment of a grand avenue to
replace the decommissioned inner-city railway lines of
1847-1856, which were to be moved much further east.?
Nothing ultimately came of these plans.

The design and construction of Krakow’s two circular
streets (“Inner Ring” and “Outer Ring”) were the most am-
bitious urban developments in Krakéw in the 19" and early
20 centuries. They contributed to the creation of two new
centres of a formal and educational-cultural character, as
well as modern areas of residential development. At the
same time, they created a new transport and circulation
grid that, with some modifications, still functions today.
In the 1970s, the “Outer Ring”, and especially the green
areas, were degraded in favour of widening the roadway
and a sudden increase in motorized through traffic, with
a simultaneous decline in park functions?. According to
data from spring 2024, the daily traffic volume is 68,000
cars.” As aresult, the green areas of the “Outer Ring” have
lost any social and recreational functions.

The specificity of Krakéw compared to other Polish
cities in the 19 century was that even during the period of
its affiliation to Austria (1796-1809 and 1846-1918) and in
conditions of incomplete state sovereignty (1809-1846),
large urban planning programs concerning circular streets
(Ring) could be carried out by Polish architects on be-
half of Polish city authorities without the involvement of
anational government. On the other hand, the process of
granting these avenues a representative and administrative
character involved to a large extent, the imitation of the
solutions of the imperial capitol Vienna.
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